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UNI TED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTI CE
EXECUTI VE OFFI CE FOR | MM GRATI ON REVI EW
CFFI CE OF THE CH EF ADM NI STRATI VE HEARI NG OFFI CER

United States of Anerica, Conplainant, v. Buckingham Limted
Partnership d/b/a M. Wash, Respondent; 8 U S.C. § 1324a Proceedi ng; Case
No. 89100244.

DECI S| ON AND ORDER
(April 6, 1990)

MARVIN H MORSE, Adninistrative Law Judge

Appearances: VIRGAGNA L. TOMLER Esq., for the Immgration and
Nat ural i zati on Service. M CHAEL MAGA O Esq., for the
Respondent .

. 1 NTRODUCTI ON

The I mmigration Reformand Control Act of 1986 (I RCA), Pub. L. No.
99-603, 100 Stat. 3359 (Novenber 6, 1986) at Section 101, enacting
section 274A of the Immigration and Nationality Act of 1952 as anended
(INA), codified at 8 U S.C. & 1324a, adopted significant revisions in
national policy on illegal immgration. IRCA introduced civil and
crimnal penalties for violation of prohibitions against enploynent of
unaut hori zed aliens in the United States; civil penalties are authorized
when an enmployer is found to have violated the prohibitions against
unl awful  enpl oynent and/or has failed to observe record keeping
verification requirements in the admnistration of the enployer sanctions
program

Title 8 US.C. 8 1324a(a)(2) provides that it is unlawful for ""a
person or other entity'' [an enployer], . . . to continue to enploy an
alien in the United States ~"knowing the alien is (or has becone) an
unaut hori zed alien [as defined at 8 U.S.C. § 1324(h)(3)] with respect to
such enploynent;'' Title 8 U S.C. 8§ 1324a(1)(B) makes it unlawful for
such an enployer to hire any individual wthout conplying with the
enpl oynent verification (paperwork) requirenents of 8 U S.C. § 1324a(b).
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Title 8 US.C. 8§ 1324a(b)(1)(A) provides that an enployer is liable
for failure to attest ““on a form designated or established by the
Attorney CGeneral by regulation, that it has verified that the individual
is not an unauthorized alien. . . .'" The term " “individual'' neans a
putative enployee. Title 8 US C 8§ 1324a(b)(2) requires that the
i ndi vidual attest, under penalty of perjury, on the verification form as
to his or her enploynent authorization. Title 8 U .S.C. § 1324a(b)(3) sets
forth requirenents for retention and availability for inspection of the
verification form The Inmmgration and Naturalization Service (INS or
Conmplainant), by delegated authority of the Attorney GCeneral, by
regulation at 8 CF. R 8§ 274a.2(a), has designated the Form 1-9 as the
Empl oynment Eligibility Verification Form to be used by enployers in
conplying with | RCA's enpl oynent verification requirenents.

1. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Thi s case began on March 31, 1989 when INS served Bucki ngham Linited
Partnership (M. Wsh or Respondent) with a Notice of Intent to Fine
(NIF) alleging that it had violated Section 274A of the Inmmgration and
Nationality Act (INA), 8 U S C 8§ 1324a. Specifically, the NIF charged
Respondent with violating both 8 U S. C § 1324a(a)(2) by continuing to
enploy an alien knowing that the alien had becone unauthorized to work
in the United States, and 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(a)(1)(B) by failing to ensure
that the enpl oyee properly conpleted Part 1 of the I|-09.

By letter dated April 25, 1989, Respondent tinely answered the N F
and requested a hearing before an administrative law judge. 8 U S.C. §
1324a(e)(3). On May 19, 1989 INS filed a Conplaint, incorporating the
allegations of the NIF, in the Ofice of the Chief Adm nistrative Hearing
Oficer (OCAHO. On May 31, 1989, OCAHO issued its Notice of Hearing
advi sing Respondent of the filing of the Conplaint and of ny assignment
to the case. On June 9, 1989, Respondent tinely filed its Answer to the
Conpl ai nt, denying every allegation.

On August 15, 1989, a prehearing conference was held in Falls
Church, Virginia, which scheduled an evidentiary hearing to begin on
Novenber 2, 1989. On Septenber 12, 1989, Conplainant filed a Mtion for
Partial Summary Judgnent, claimng that there was no genuine issue of
material fact in this case. On Septenber 22, 1989, Respondent filed a
Motion For Leave To File An Amended Answer with a Menorandum of Law in
support, an Opposition to Conplainant's Mtion, and Respondent's Counter
Motion For Summary Decision and Menorandum Of Law.
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On Septenber 25, 1989, Conplainant filed a Motion to Conpel Answers
To Its Request for Admissions. On Septenber 28, 1989, Respondent filed
its Qpposition to that notion

On October 5, 1989, | issued an Order In Preparation For Hearing
whi ch detailed the tine, place and procedures for the hearing, and denied
all pending notions. Prehearing statenents were filed by both parties on
Cct ober 19, 1989.

On COctober 30, 1989, Conplainant filed an Anended Prehearing
Statenent and a Mdtion For Leave To File An Anended Conplaint. At the
hearing, | granted Conplainant's notion and received the anended
prehearing statenent.

An evidentiary hearing was held on Novenber 2 and 3, 1989 in Falls
Church, Virginia. | denied Conplainant's renewed notion for sunmmary
decision at hearing as well as its nmotion in linmine and proceedi ng under
seal with respect to M. Rivera's enploynent history with the INS. The
| ast post-hearing brief was filed on February 23, 1990.

I11. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent owns seven car wash |ocations that operate as M. Wsh
in the Washington, D.C., area. Each location files separate tax returns,
but conbi ne various managenent and advertising devices together in the
sane corporate inmage. The only location of M. Wash involved in this case
is the location at 101 d ebe Road, Arlington, Virginia

On February 5, 1988, an INS Special Agent conducted an educationa
visit to Respondent at which tine he spoke with Respondent's District
Manager, the person primarily in charge of hiring, M. Thomas Stevens.
Stevens testified that during the educational visit, the INS agent
famliarized himw th the Enpl oyer Handbook, which he later read through

M chael A Mchelin, INS Special Agent, testified that he initiated
an investigation of Respondent after observing large groups of ~ what
appeared to be illegal aliens gathering in front of the establishnment
each nmorning.'' Tr. 40. From his experience as an INS Border Patrol and
Speci al Agent, he believed they were illegal aliens based on their manner
of dress, hairstyle, and the fact that they spoke Spanish to one
anot her. ™ chel i n conducted three surveillances of the car wash before INS
i nspected the prenises on January 18, 1989.

As it turned out, INS acknow edged that only two individuals were unauthorized
to work in the United States. Mst of the rest had tenporary relief under asylum
proceedi ngs, or were tenporary or permanent residents. Tr. 88
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On that day, Mchelin and approximately 15 other INS agents
conducted an enployer target inspection (also known to others as a

““raid'') of Respondent's premises in Arlington. |INS apprehended two
i ndi vi duals who were unauthorized to work in the United States according
to docunents in their possession, i.e., Carlos Abraham Rivera-Hernandez

(Rivera) and Carlos Al berto Rodriguez Mejia (Rodriguez).

The results of the investigation pronpted INS to audit Respondent's
enpl oynent verification forns (Fornms 1-9). Agent Mchelin testified that
the purpose of the target inspection was to arrest any illegal aliens,
not to serve the Notice of Inspection, and for that reason the Notice of
| nspecti on was not served first.

INS subsequently scheduled an 1-9 inspection with Respondent for
January 27, 1989 to review all its 1-9s. INS hand-delivered to Respondent
a Notice of Inspection, providing the 3-day notice period called for by
INS regulation. 8 CF.R 8§ 274a.2(b)(2)(ii).

On January 27, 1989, Agent Mchelin inspected the [1-9s at the
Washington District Ofice of INS in the presence of M. Stevens and M.
M chael Maggi o, counsel for Respondent. Mchelin copied approxinately
five 1-9s which he suspected contained violations, including those of
both Carlos A. Rivera, Exh. M and Carlos Al berto Rodriguez Mejia. Exh.
G

Both INS Form 1-94 [arrival-departure record] of Carlos Abraham
Ri ver a- Her nandez, Exh. E, in his possession when he was apprehended, and
the -9 of Carlos A Ri ver a, i ndicated that M. Ri vera's work
aut hori zation had expired on Cctober 1, 1988, three and a half nonths
before the target inspection. Mchelin testified that he deterni ned that
the 1-9 of Carlos A Rivera referred to Carlos Abraham Ri vera- Her nandez
because of identical A-nunbers on both the I-9 and the 1-94.2 [ A-nunbers
are alien registration receipt nunbers identifying master files
mai ntained by INS on aliens in its data systeni.

M chelin testified that Part | of the Rodriguez |-9 was inproperly
filled out and that the copy of the Social Security card attached was
invalid as proof of work authorization because it bore the endorsenent
""Not Issued by the United States Governnent.'' Mchelin asserted that
the card was obviously invalid.

Stevens testified that he had not noticed that Part | of the 1-9 for
Carlos Rodriguez had not been conpleted, nor did he notice the
endorsenent on the "~ Social Security'' card. Neither Part | nor Il of

2At heari ng and on brief, Respondent abandoned the di spute whether Carl os
Rivera, known to Stevens, was Carl os Abraham Ri ver a- Her nandez, whom he previously
deni ed knowi ng. Tr. 194-5, Resp. Brief 2 n. 5.
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the -9 had been filled in although both Rodriguez and Stevens signed in
the appropriate places. A copy of the “~~Social Security'' card and of a
Virginia ldentification Card were attached to the I-9.

As a result of the inspection, Respondent was charged with (1)
continuing to enploy an alien, nanely, Carlos Abraham Rivera-Hernandez
(Rivera), knowing he had becone unauthorized to work in the United
States, and (2) failing to properly conplete the 1-9 of Carlos Alberto
Rodri quez Meji a.

M. Stevens testified that he hired Rivera in 1987, and that at that
time Rivera had proper work authorization, nanely, an INS Form |-94
endorsed with enpl oynent authorized. M. Stevens conceded that he had
been aware that Rivera's authorization was to expire on Cctober 1, 1988,
and had properly noted that date on Rivera's I|-9.

At the time of the inspection, however, Stevens was surprised when
an INS agent told himthat Rivera's enploynment authorization had expired:
L. | knew that he had proper work identification and authorization
when | hired him and that was just a m stake, an oversight on ny part
by not checking to see that it had expired . . . | believed it was stil
valid.''" Tr. 207-208. Wen asked if he had read the back of the I-9 form
which recites that enployers are responsible for reverifying enpl oynent
eligibility of enpl oyees whose enploynent eligibility shows an expiration

date, he stated: "“In this case, it got passed (sic) ne. It was just an
error on ny part. It is not sonmething that is done periodically.'' Tr.
218.

M. Rivera testified that he began working at M. Wash in Decenber
1987. Initially he knew his work authorization would expire on Cctober
1, 1988, but did not ask for an extension because he forgot that it was
going to expire. He conceded that he did not have work authorization on
the day of his arrest, although he clained he could renew the pernit
virtually at will.

Foll owi ng his deportation after January 18, 1989, when he reentered
the United States wthout inspection INS once again granted him
enpl oynent aut horization in March 1989. According to Rivera, INS granted
hi m enpl oynent aut hori zati on each tine in exchange for his work with INS
Exh. 6. At the tine of hearing he was back at M. Wsh working with
aut hori zation which will expire in July 1990. Exh. N

M chelin testified that two INS officers in Harlingen, Texas
reviewed Rivera's A-file, described by Mchelin as the controlling INS
docunentation which reflects whether or not he did have enploynent
aut horization at the tinme of his arrest. The Harlingen office sent the
file to the Washington District Ofice upon request. M che-
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lin testified that having reviewed the file he did not find an extension
of enpl oynent beyond Cctober 1, 1988.

On COctober 26, 1989, at Respondent's request, | had issued a
subpoena for M. Mchelin to bring to the hearing all files, docunents
etc., in possession of Conplainant “~“which identify, nane, or nake
reference to the persons naned in Counts | and Il of the conplaint."'’

When counsel for Respondent requested the A-file at heari ng,
Conpl ai nant's counsel responded that all files requested were avail abl g;
their exact |ocation was not specified. In reply, counsel for Respondent
said he had no further questions of this witness [Mchelin]. Tr. 152-53.

Respondent clearly nmade efforts to conply wth the enployer
sanctions provisions of | RCA. Wen the Arlington | ocation opened on March
31, 1987, M. Stephen Harris, general partner, gave the Handbook for
Empl oyers to M. Stevens to fanmiliarize hinself with an enployer's
obligations under IRCA On June 3, 1987, M. Harris and two other
enpl oyees of Respondent attended an all-day seminar on | RCA held by the
Washi ngt on Board of Trade. According to Harris they attended the seninar
to understand the nechanics of IRCAin order to correctly conply with the
| aw.

In the spring of 1988, Respondent retained Mchael Maggio to audit
its 1-9 and to teach its nmnagers how to correctly fill them out. M.
Harris also held a neeting, at which M. Maggio was present, with nore
than 70 enpl oyees of all his operations regarding their obligations under
IRCA. M. Harris also changed Respondent's enploynent application to
i nclude a section summarizing | RCA requirenents.

To comply with I RCA, Respondent in the spring of 1988 fired seven
to nine enployees, and over fifty altogether were fired " by the other
conpanies trading as M. Wash.'' Tr. 291. As a result, Respondent raised
wages from $4.00 to $5.00 an hour and spent additional noney on
classified ads to recruit new enployees. M. Harris stated that it had
cost nore than $400,000 to cone into conpliance with IRCA at all the car
wash operations.

Both Stevens and Rivera testified that M. Wash does not hire people
who cannot show proper work authorization. Stevens denpbnstrated to ne,
through his testinobny, a general understanding of an enployer's
obligations under IRCA. He said he fired an enployee who had hidden
during the INS inspection after the enployee failed to respond to
Stevens' comment that he thought he was a U S. citizen; had he known the
enpl oyee was an unaut hori zed alien he would have fired himearlier

John Wight, INS Assistant District Director for |nvestigations, set
the anount of civil noney penalties assessed by INS: $250 for
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the paperwork violation and $2,000, the statutory maximum for the
knowi ngly continuing to enploy violation. Wight testified that in
setting the penalty for both wunauthorized enploynent and paperwork
violations, he looks to the five criteria set out in the INS Enpl oyers
Sanctions Field Manual and the Code of Federal Regulations. [8 CF. R §
274a.10(b)(2)], i.e., size of the business; good faith of the enployer;
seriousness of the violation; whether any unauthorized aliens were
apprehended, and any previous history ~“that the Service has had with the
Conpany.'' Tr. 221. Cf. 8 U S.C. § 1324a(e)(5).

I'V. DI SCUSSI ON

Count | charges Respondent with violating 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(a)(2) in
that it continued to enploy an alien knowing that the alien had becone
unaut horized with respect to enploynent in the United States. Count II
charges Respondent with violating 8 U S.C. 8§ 1324a(b)(1)(A) in that it

failed to properly fill out the 1-9 Form As Respondent has conceded
liability to Count Il, Resp. Brief 30 n. 28, the only issues to be
di scussed concern the nerits as to Count | and determ nation of civil

nmoney penalties for both Counts | and II.

A. Count |: Continuing to Enploy an Alien Wio Has Becone
Unaut hori zed

1. The Know edge/lntent |ssue

Title 8 U S.C. 8§ 1324a(a)(2) makes it "~“unlawful for a person or
other entity, . . . to continue to enploy the alien in the United States
knowing the alien is (or has becone) an unauthorized alien with respect
to such enmploynent.'' (enphasis added). Respondent argues that it is
necessary to establish intent in order to sustain a charge of know ngly
continuing to enploy an alien unauthorized to work. | agree wth
Conpl ai nant, however, that the legislative history of |IRCA and case
precedent do not support Respondent, and that 8 U S.C. § 1324a(a)(2) does
not require a showing of intent. The issue of intent is properly left to
determ nati on of the quantum of civil nobney penalty.

M. Stevens, acting with Respondent's authority, first hired Carl os
Rivera in Decenber 1987. For | RCA purposes, as explained in United States
v. Sophie Valdez, d.b.a. La Parrilla Restaurant, OCAHO Case No. 89100014,
Septenber 27, 1989; aff'd by CAHO, Decenber 12, 1989, an enployer is a
person or entity, including an agent or anyone acting directly or
indirectly in the interest thereof, who engages the services or |abor of
an enployee to be performed in the United States for wages or other
remuneration. See 8 CF. R § 274a.1(g). Stephen Harris confirnmed that M.
Stevens is responsible for hiring at M. Wash.
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Both Stevens and Rivera knew at the time Rivera was hired that his
enpl oynent authorization would expire on Cctober 1, 1983. M. Rivera's
-9 form properly conpleted and signed by M. Stevens, recites that his
enpl oynent authorization was to expire on that date. Respondent proffered
no evidence, however, that as of that date, or as of any later tineg,
anyone on Respondent's behalf took steps either to reverify M. Rivera's
conti nued enploynent eligibility or, alternatively, to discharge himif
his eligibility had in fact expired. It is instructive in this respect
that the reverse of the |-9 form provides in boldface type: ~“ NOTE
Enpl oyers are responsible for reverifying enploynment eligibility of
enpl oyees whose enploynent eligibility docunents carry an expiration
date."'’

| nst ead, Respondent <continued to enploy M. R vera until |INS
appr ehended him on January 18, 1989, three and a half nonths after his
enpl oynent aut hori zation expired on October 1, 1988. The question to be
resol ved, t herefore, is whet her Respondent had t he requisite
““knowl edge'' that M. Rivera was ineligible to work in the United
States, and thus liable as an enpl oyer under 8 U . S.C. § 1324a(a)(2).

Early cases under 8 U S.C. 8§ 1324a which address the issue of
know edge have fornulated and utilized a constructive know edge standard,
applicable to the case at hand. United States v. Mester Mg. Co., OCAHO
Case No. 87100001, June 17, 1988; aff'd, Mester Mg. Co. v. I.N S, 879
F.2d 561 (9th Cir. 1989), held that “"[I]t is irrelevant by what neans
respondent obtained notice sufficient to form the scienter by which it
is concluded respondent knew, or should have known, that the status of
the enployees was that they were unauthorized aliens.'' 1d. at 44. In
affirmng Mester (OCAHO), the Ninth Circuit held that the enployer had
constructive knowl edge that the alien worker was unauthorized, even if
no enployee had actual specific know edge of wunauthorized status, and
thus, the enployer could be held liable for violating | RCA Mester,
supra, at 567

Subsequent deci si ons adopted and el aborated the Mester constructive
know edge standard. In United States v. New El Rey Sausage Conpany, |nc.
OCAHO Case No. 88100080, July 17, 1989; nodified (on other grounds) by
CAHO, August 4, 1989, the ALJ applied a reasonable care standard (id. at
32):

An enpl oyer shall be deermed to have constructive knowl edge if it has reason to know
that the enpl oyee was unauthorized to work in the United States. An enpl oyer shall
be deened to have reason to know that an enployee is not authorized to work in the
United States if it can be shown by a preponderance of the evidence that the
enpl oyer was in possession of such information as would |ead a person exercising
reasonabl e care to acquire know edge of the fact in question (i.e.) whether or not
the alien-enployee is authorized to work)...
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A recent enployer sanctions case held that evidence of know edge to
support a ~"knowingly continue to enploy'' charge is sufficient where an
enpl oyer shoul d have known that the alien had becone unauthorized. United
States v. Collins Food International d.b.a. Sizzler Restaurant, OCAHO
Case No. 8900084, February 8, 1990 at 11; aff'd by CAHO February 8,
1990; United States v. Sophie Valdez, supra, at 11.

These cases inform that knowingly continuing to enploy an
unaut hori zed alien in violation of 8 U S.C. § 1324a(a)(2) can be proven
by showi ng actual or constructive know edge of the alien's inmmgration
status and/or eligibility to be enployed in the United States. Applying
the constructive know edge standard to M. Wash, | find that Respondent
did violate 8 U S.C 8§ 1324a(a)(2) in that it continued to enploy an
alien, M. Rivera, knowi ng that he had becone unauthorized with respect
to that enploynent. Contrary to Respondent's argunent, it is not
necessary to find that the enployer intended to continue to enploy M.
Ri vera without regard to his enploynent authorization. It is enough that
Respondent shoul d have known of that unauthorized status and failed to
act in conformty with Section 101 of I RCA and inpl enenting regul ations.
8 U S.C. § 1324a(b).

Notice is given when it is comunicated. Plunkett v. Roadway
Express, Inc., 504 F.2d 417, 418 (10th G r. 1974); Reeves v. Anerican
Optical Co., 408 F.Supp. 297, 301 (WD.NY. 1976). M. Stevens has
acknowl edged that at the tinme he conpleted the Rivera 1-9 he was on
notice that M. Rivera's enploynent authorization would expire on Cctober
1, 1988. An employer is obligated to reverify the enploynent status of
its enployees. 8 C.F.R 8§ 274a.2(b)(1)(vii).

Federal case law instructs that failure to know what coul d have been
known in the exercise of due diligence anbunts to know edge in the eyes
of the law. Mungin v. Florida East Coast Railway Conpany, 318 F. Supp.
720, 737 (MD. Fla. 1970), aff'd, 441 F.2d 728 (5th Cr. 1971), cert.
denied, 404 U S. 897 (1971). See also United States v. New El Rey Sausage
Co., Inc. supra at 27-30, (analogizing unlawful enploynent of minors to
enpl oynent of unaut hori zed aliens).

To hold that liability attaches only when it is proven that an
enpl oyer specifically intended to continue to enploy an unauthorized
alien would mnimze the Act's effectiveness by providing a | oophole with
which to escape liability under 8 U S.C. 8§ 1324a(a)(2). See Collins Food,
supra, at 13:

There is a strong policy argunment in favor or an adninistrative |aw judge relying
on circunstantial evidence which gives the enpl oyer notice of an enpl oyee's status
as an illegal alien. The argunent is that to do otherwi se would encourage an
enpl oyer to consciously avoid acquiring know edge of the enpl oyees imigra-
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tion status whenever the enpl oyer suspects, fromthe circunstantial evidence before
him that his enployee is an illegal alien.

To adopt Respondent's argunment would, in effect, require the concl usion
that an enployer is not responsible for reverifying an individual's
enpl oynent aut hori zation absent proof of intent to continue the
enpl oynent without regard to expiration of work authorization. | reject
Respondent's criterion by which intent to violate the |aw becones an
essential elenent of proof. Mester, (OCAHO, supra, at 20. For the sane
reason, | do not agree that decisional |aw under provisions of the INA
outside I RCA are dispositive of cases arising in this new venue.

Nor am | persuaded by the " “pattern or practice,'' 83 US. C 8§
1324a(f)(l), or other references to inmmgration law relied on by
Respondent. Pattern or practice violations of the prohibition against
hiring or continuing to hire aliens unauthorized to work in the United
States in enployer sanctions are exclusively crimnal and have no bearing
on this civil action.

Respondent is correct that the legislative history of | RCA confirns

that °° " Pattern or practice' has its generic neaning and shall apply to
regular, repeated and intentional activities, but does not include
i solated, sporadic or accidental acts.'' House Report No. 99-682(1),

House Conmmittee on the Judiciary, 99th Cong. 2nd Sess. 1, reprinted in
1986 U.S. Code Cong. & Adnmin. News, 5649, 5663 (USCCAAN); Resp. Br. 12-
13.

Respondent overl ooks that cul pability for "~ “pattern or practice'
differs fromresponsibility for the unlawful conduct in the case at hand
not on the basis of ““intent'' but on frequency. The House Judiciary
Committee made absolutely clear that know edge would be the critical
inquiry. Intent was not nentioned: ~°. . . if an enployer has know edge
that an alien's enploynment becones unauthorized due to a change in
noni nm grant status, or that the alien has fallen out of the status for
which work permission is authorized, sanctions would apply.'' 1d. at
5661. (Enphasi s added).

Respondent's shifting burden argunent, Resp. Br. 19-22, also fails
for the reason that the "~“because of'' clause of 8 US.C §
1324b(a)(l1)(b), cited as the basis of the shifting burden |anguage, is
absent in a case of knowingly continuing to hire. Mreover, Respondent's
reliance on U.S. v. Mesa Airlines, OCAHO Case Nos. 88200001-2, July 24,
1989, it inapposite. References to shifting burdens of proof in Mesa and
earlier precedents in case law under Title VII of the Cvil Rights Act
of 1964, as anended, 42 U.S.C. 88 2000e et seq., reflect particularized
concerns over allocation of the burden of persuasion in the devel opnent
of federal discrinna-
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tion jurisprudence. They do not per se apply in other contexts, such as
t he venue established by 8 U S.C. § 1324a(e)(3).

Finally in this respect, the ““intent'' standard of the
di scrimnation cases does not assist Respondent because it is not intent
to violate the law that is at issue but intent to perform an act for
which the law has prescribed consequences, i.e., culpability for
continuing to enploy an unauthorized alien knowing the alien to be
unaut horized. Cf. U S. v. Mrcel Wtch Corporation, OCAHO Case No.
89200085, March 22, 1990 at 13, 15.

2. The A-File Issue

Count | involves an alien, M. Rivera, who concededly entered the
country illegally, but when hired by Respondent possessed docunentation
whi ch authorized enploynent for a specified period of tine. Respondent
contends that Count | nust be disnmi ssed because Conplainant failed to
produced Rivera's A-file, without which, it is argued, | am unable to
find that Rivera was in fact unauthorized to work in the United States
at the time of the INS inspection at M. Wash, January 18, 1989. The
argunent appears to be that since Rivera was authorized to work in the
United States for a period ended Cctober 1, 1988 and again from March 31
1989 until October 5, 1989, extended until July 1990, the A-file is
critical to an inquiry whether the al so had authorization on January 18,
1989.

It is unquestioned that a valid subpoena duces tecum was issued at
Respondent's request. The parties do not agree that the subpoena was

sufficiently precise to pronpt production of the Rivera A-file. | cannot
agree with Conplainant on this score, instead finding the description
adequate for the purpose. | do conclude, however, that Respondent failed

to pursue its effort to obtain access to the A-file at hearing, rendering
noot its claimthat Count | nust be dism ssed.

Not hing contained in the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure (Rules or
FRCP) cited by Respondent dictates the result sought. |ndeed, the Rules
make clear that federal trial judges have great discretion in selecting
anong tools at their disposal in response to failure of a party to obey
their orders. See e.g., FRCP 37(b). Moreover, nothing in the rule of
practice and procedure of this Ofice conpels an admi nistrative | aw judge
to reach the Draconian result sought by Respondent. Rather, the rules of
practice and procedure on this Ofice leave to the discretion of the
trial judge the selection of renedies for nonconpliance with discovery
orders and subpoenas. 28 C. F. R
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88 68.21(a) and (c), 23(b), 26(b) [citations are to 54 Fed. Reg., 48593
(Nov. 24, 1989) (to be codified at 28 CF. R Part 68)].°2

Most inportantly, the record is barren of any basis for a reasonabl e
inference to be drawn that INS failed to respond to the subpoena, or
that, if it did, Respondent sought any relief from the bench on that
account prior to its post-hearing briefing. For whatever reason
Respondent failed to pursue the request for the A-file, electing instead
to conclude his exam nation of M. Mchelin. (Tr. 152-153):

Ms. Towl er: Your Honor, | would like to state for the record that we do have all
files pertaining to the individuals that he is interested in.

M. Maggio: | have no further questions of this w tness, Your Honor. | just think
that the testinony speaks for itself in this regard. Thank you, Your Honor.

Judge Morse: Do you have anything further of the w tness?
Ms. Towl er: No Your Honor.

* * * * * * *

Judge Morse: The file's did support this entry.

The Wtness: The file did not reflect any extension of work authorization and that
he was, indeed, issued this work authorization which expired on Cctober 1st.

Judge Morse: So they both supported the fact that he had the authorization as it
appears on there, and, insofar as the file showed no further extensions.

The Wtness: That's correct, Your Honor.

Judge Morse: Thank you, Sir, you are excused.

In nmy judgnent, the record does not support a finding that INS failed to
produce the A-file, but even if it did, Respondent abandoned any claim
it mght have had as the result of such failure. Even assuning that
Respondent's contention was otherw se well-founded, case law relied upon
to support its argunent is not persuasive.

Cases mandating disnissal reflect the harshness of such action by
inplicating situations where a party's failure to conply with discovery
orders is due to willfullness, bad faith, or grossly negligent conduct.
Societe Internationale v. Rogers, 357 U S. 197, 212 (1958); Zieses V.
Dept. of Social Services of the Human Resources

SAt the time this case was tried, the Rules of Practice of this Ofice provided
that " [T]he Rules of G vil Procedure for the District Courts of the United States
shall be applied in any situation not provided for or controlled by these rules, or by
any statute, executive order, or regulation.'' 52 Fed Reg. 44,972, (Novenber 24,
1987), 28 C.F.R 8 68.1.
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Adm nistration of the Gty of New York, 112 F.R D. 223 (ED.N Y. 1986);
Cine Forty-Second Street Theatre Corp. v. Allied Artists, 602 F.2d 1062,
1067 (2nd Cir. 1979); Flaks v. Koegl, 504 F.2d 702, 709 (2nd Cir. 1974).
Such cases frequently reflect nonths and even years of discovery del ayed
due to a party's conduct or repeated failure to conply with orders
conpelling such discovery. Zieses v. Dept. of Social Services of the
Human Resources Adninistration of the City of New York, supra; Batson v.
Neal Spelce Assocs., 765 F.2d 511 (5th Cir. 1985); Mrton v. Harris, 86
F.R.D. 437 (N.D.Ga. 1980), aff'd, 628 F.2d 438 (5th Cr. 1980), cert.
deni ed, Mrton v. Schweiker, 450 U S. 1044 (1981); Affanato v. Merrill
Bros., 547 F.2d 138 (1st Cr. 1977); Philpot v. Philco-Ford Corp., 63
F.RD. 672 (E.D. Pa. 1974). Several cases nmke clear that only orders
““as are just'' should be entered. FRCP 37; Donovan v. G ngerbread House,
Inc., 106 F.R D. 57 (D. Colo. 1985); Edgar v. Slaughter, 548 F.2d 770,
772 (8th Cir. 1977), and should not be used where a party's failure to
conply is due to confusion or sincere msunderstanding of the court's
order. Batson v. Neal Spelce, supra, at 514. Finally, dismssal is not
warranted where failure to conply is due to nere oversight of counsel
anpunting to no nore than sinple negligence. Cine Forty-Second Street,
supra, at 1068. Dismissal is the severest of sanctions a court could
order. See e.g., FRCP 37.

Respondent's reliance on Rabb v. Amatex, 769 F. 2d 996 (4th Cir.
1985) is msplaced. In Rabb, the Fourth Circuit, in affirmng the
district court's dismssal of the conplaint, found that plaintiff had

““deliberately disregarded the pretrial order,'' id. at 1000, established
by the district court. Here, the facts do not point to a "~ “deliberate
disregard.'' Rather, the record is consistent with the A-file having been

avail able to Respondent. Even though Conplainant did not specify where
the file was actually |located, Respondent gave the government no
opportunity to explain its location or to produce it. Tr. 152-153.

Final |y, Respondent has offered no showi ng of specific prejudice as
the result of failure to obtain the A-file. Mor eover, what ever
significance mght have attached to the failure of Conplainant to produce
the A-file at hearing is nooted by Respondent's abandonnent of its effort
to produce it; at no tinme during hearing did Respondent ask the bench to
assist in obtaining the A-file.

Even absent the A-file, | find the testinony sufficient to deternine
that Rivera was an unauthorized alien at the tine of the inspection. Both
M chelin and Rivera testified to that effect. On the basis of his
trai ning and experience, Mchelin but not Rivera might be expected to
know the legal niceties of the term  “unauthorized alien.'' Certainly M.
Ri vera can be credited with the ability to
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know whether, as he testified, he |acked work authorization at the tine
of arrest on January 18, 1989. As appears from his pre-hearing
declaration, he was surprised on that date to have l|learned that his
aut hori zati on had expired (Exh. 6); on that date, when he handed it over
to the agents he was reminded it had expired. Tr. 254,

| attribute to lack of sophistication and matters of translation
nuances suggesting nodest inconsistency between Rivera's pre-hearing
statenent that he could get authorization renewed any tine he asked, and
his testinony that it was renewed at |east once wthout request on his
part. Exh. 6, Tr. 270. In sum | have no reason, based on his deneanor
at hearing or by any inference to be drawn fromthe record, including his
relationship to INS, to doubt the probity of Rivera' s testinony.

As a statutory term "~ “unauthorized alien'' neans, with respect to
the enploynent of an alien at a particular tine, that the alien is not
at that tinme either (A) an alien lawfully admtted for permanent
residence, or (B) authorized to be so enployed by this chapter or by the
Attorney General. 8 U S . C. 8§ 1324a(h)(3). There is no reason in the
record for ne to disbelieve Rivera or Mchelin when they testified that
Ri vera was unauthorized to be enployed in the United States on January
18, 1989. There is nothing in this record to support an inference that
Conpl ai nant acted inproperly in initiating this case. Accordingly, | find
and conclude that M. Rivera was on the date specified in the Conpliant
an unauthorized alien wthin the neaning of § 1324a(h)(3) and,
consequently, 8§ 1324a(2).

B. Count 1l: Failure to Conply with Enploynent Verification
Requi renent s

Respondent has conceded liability for the paperwork violation
involving Carlos Rodriguez. It follows that the sole paperwork violation
issue in dispute is the appropriate quantum of civil noney penalty.

V. CIVIL MONEY PENALTI ES
As appears above, | find that Respondent violated both 8 U S. C §

1324a(a)(2) and & 1324a(a)(1l)(B), as alleged, with respect to Carlos
Ri vera and Carlos Rodriguez, respectively. Having found culpability, |

amrequired by |RCA to assess civil noney penalties ~“in an anount of not
| ess than $250 and not nore than $2,000 . . .,'' wth respect to the
knowi ngly continuing to enploy violation, and ~"in an anount of not |ess

than $100 and not nore than $1,000 for each individual with respect to
whom such violation occurred'' for the paperwork violation
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INS has proposed the statutory nmaxinmum $2,000, for know ngly
continuing to enploy Carlos Rivera and $250 for the paperwork violation
i nvolving Carlos Rodriguez. | amobliged, in deternining the quantum of
penalty of the paperwork violation, to consider the size of the
enpl oyer's business, the good faith of the enployer, the seriousness of
the violation, whether the individual involved was an unaut hori zed alien
and the history, if any, of prior violations. Congress mandated these
five criteria in determning the anount of civil penalty for paperwork
violations, but failed to require such criteria as to violations of
unl awful enploynent of aliens. Conpare 8 U S.C. § 1324a(e)(4) with 8
U S.C. § 1324a(e)(5).

A. Count |

In setting the penalty for the unauthorized enploynent charge, M.
Wight, applying the criteria of 8 U S C § 1324a(e)(5), concluded as
follows: (1) that M. Wash is an ongoing daily operation that generates
i ncone and enploys about 20 at their Arlington, Virginia location, Tr
223-24; (2) the apprehension of two unauthorized aliens was a serious
violation and not good faith on the part of the enployer; (3) it was not
good faith that three nonths had el apsed after the expiration of Rivera's
work authorization; (4) the enployees involved in the violations
constituted 10%of the total at the Arlington location, i.e., two illega
aliens out of twenty enployees; (5) M. Wash had a " “call-up system''
i.e., a review system by which the enployer can periodically review the
| -9s for enployees who have work authorization to ensure whether or not
an authorization has, or is about to, expire; (6) Respondent had no
hi story of involvenent with INS; and, finally, (7) INS had visited and
provi ded Respondent with the enpl oyer handbook and anple tine to review
it.

Clainming to have applied the five factors specified in §
1324a(e)(5), M. Wight laid particular enphasis on the fact that
unaut horized aliens were apprehended. Wile the factors required for
assessing the penalty for paperwork violations are hel pful as guidelines
in assessing the penalty for unlawful enploynment of aliens, they do not
necessarily apply. This is so both because | RCA does not nmandate them and
because of the substantive differences between the two types of
vi ol ati ons.

As | pointed out in Mester (OCAHO, it may be speculated that the
absence of guidelines for assessing civil noney penalties for enpl oynent
violations is accounted for, at least in part, by the nature of the proof
required in an wunauthorized enploynent case. ld. at 4 n. b5
Identification of individuals as unauthorized alien enpl oyees is inherent
in the definition of continuing to enpl oy unauthorized aliens. It follows
that on a finding of know ngly conti nuing
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to enpl oy an unauthorized alien the unauthorized status of the alien is
a necessary precondition to culpability.

In setting the level of the civil nobney penalty, Wight eval uated
the fact that the enployer had filled out nbst of the I-9s, but conceded
on cross-examnation that he had not considered that Respondent had
revised its enploynent application. He did testify, however, that
reflecting IRCA in the enploynent application said sonething good about
Respondent's good faith.

James Elder, an INS Enployer and Labor Relations Oficer, would
consi der an enployer who did the following to be making good effort to
conmply with I RCA: changed its enploynent application to indicate the
docunentary requirenents of |RCA, trained its nanagenent and supervisory
personnel in IRCA's requirenents; organized a neeting of all enployees
to informthem about I RCA; and fired nany enpl oyees upon |earning that
they were not authorized to work.

Respondent's noteworthy steps to conply with Section 101 of |RCA
denonstrate a positive effort on its part to conply with IRCA and its
underlying objectives. Respondent has nade a substantial good faith
showing of its effort to conply with IRCA requirenments. The record
reflects its stated intention to exercise reasonable care and diligence
to ascertain what |RCA requires and to act in accordance.* United States
v. Felipe, Inc., OCAHO Case No. 89100151, Cctober 11, 1989; aff'd by
CAHO, Novenber 29, 1989

Cbviously, the good faith showing is tenpered by Respondent's
failure to assure Rivera's continued work authorization after October 1,
1988, or to do anything about it, and by blind acceptance of the tainted
Rodriguez Social Security card. There are no previous violations,
however, and | will consider only offenses proven on this record.

There is no reason to suppose that as a goi ng busi ness Respondent
is unable to pay a nobdest penalty. Notwithstanding that INS made a
credible effort to apply the criterion of 8 U S.C. § 1324a(e)(5), there
is no reason to apply themrigidly.

Absent, as here, a credible basis in the record on which to posit
t he maxi num assessnment, selection of the maximumin effect wites out of
the law the broad discretion granted by 8 U S.C

4Good faith, however, is only a consideration in determ ning the quantum of
civil penalty to be assessed and is not a defense to | RCA's enpl oynent verification
requirements. United States v. Big Bear Market, OCAHO Case No. 8810038, March 30,
1989. Nor is good faith a defense to violations arising under 8 U.S.C. 8§ 1324a(a)(2),
for continuing to enploy an alien knowi ng his enpl oynment has becone unaut horized. See
8 U.S.C. § 1324a(a)(3) (allowing the defense of good faith only for violations arising
under 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(a)(1)(A)).

1074



1 OCAHO 151

8 1324a(e)(4). Accordingly, not being bound by a particular statutory
formul ation, considering all the foregoing, | deternine judgnentally that
$500.00 is an appropriate and just civil noney penalty for Count |

B. Count |

The civil noney penalty assessed by INS for the paperwork violation
reflected M. Wight's view that the Social Security card was obviously
fraudul ent coupled with the fact that Part | of Forml1-9 was not filled
in. | have already discussed, anong the five statutory criteria,
Respondent's " “good faith'' and |l ack of a history of previous violations.

Anong the remaining criteria, the record is silent as to size except
to the extent that | can speculate as to the nunber of enployees based
on those at the scene on January 18, 1989, plus Messrs. Harris and
Stevens. Certainly the penalty proposed by INS is not disproportionate
on the basis of size.

Taking into account the hierarchy of considerations in gauging
seriousness of 1-9 violations set forth in Felipe, supra, at 11, the
penalty proposed by INS is reasonable. There were approximtely twenty
enpl oyees on the premises on the date of the inspection. As the result
of the audit, out of nore than 100 |-9s exam ned, only one was charged
as defective. Inthat light, it would be unreasonable to assess a penalty
at the higher end of the pernissible range. Neverthel ess, although the
Rodriguez 1-9 was signed by both enployee and Respondent, Part 1
contained no entries as to status of the enployee, and the copy of the
docunent attached as the Social Security card contained the endorsenent
which nmade plain on its face that it was not issued by the United States.

The criterion concerning "~ “whether or not the individual was an
unaut hori zed alien,'' 8 U S. C § 1324a(e)(5), requires recognition that
Rodri guez was unaut horized, but was the only enployee as to whoman |-9
charge was nmade in the Conplaint. | do not wunderstand the quoted
criterion to contenplate that | count for paperwork violation purposes
t he unaut hori zed status of the other individual, M. Rivera.

The criteria of 8 U S.C. 8§ 1324a(e)(5) nust be applied by the judge
in determning the anmount of the penalty whenever paperwork violations
are found. 8 U.S.C. 8 1324a(e)(3). In any such case, the question arises
as to the weight to be given to the anpbunt of penalty assessed by I|INS.
In nmy judgnent, absent direction in IRCA to the contrary, the amount so
assessed by INS is entitled to sone wei ght
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but not deference.® | conclude, judgnentally, that the civil noney penalty
assessed by INS reasonably conports with the statutory criteria.

VI. ULTI MATE FI NDI NGS, CONCLUSI ONS, AND ORDER

| have considered the pleadings, testinmony, evidence, nenoranda
briefs, argunents, and proposed findings of fact and concl usions of |aw
submtted by the parties. Al notions and all requests not previously
di sposed of are denied. Accordingly, and in addition to the findings and
conclusions already nentioned, | nmake the follow ng determnations,
findings of fact, and concl usions of |aw

1. As previously found and discussed, | determine, upon the
preponderance of the evidence, that Respondent violated 8 US C §
1324a(a)(2) by continuing to enmploy in the United States the alien,
Rivera, identified in Count | of the Conplaint, knowing him to have
becone authorized with respect to that enpl oynent.

2. That upon hiring an alien whose authorization to work in the
United States shows on its face, as did that of M. Rivera, that it would
expire on a date certain, Respondent, as the enployer, had an affirnmative
duty under 8 U . S.C. § 1324a, and its inplenenting regul ations issued by
INS, to reverify enploynent eligibility. Whether negligent or deliberate,
Respondent's failure to reverify is not found to have been excusabl e.

3. That on or about January 18, 1989, Rivera, an alien unauthorized
to work in the United States, and so known to Respondent, was enpl oyed
by Respondent at its Arlington, Virginia location. 8 USC 8§
1324a(h) (3) (B)

4. That Respondent, as the enployer, is obliged to exercise
reasonable care to ensure that it does not continue to enploy, after
expiration of a work authorization known to it to have a linmted

duration, an individual who has by virtue of that expiration becone
unaut hori zed for that enploynent in the United States.

5. That Respondent, as the enployer, is responsible for conpliance
with 8 U S.C. 8§ 1324a under an objective statutory standard, 8 U S.C. §
1324a(a)(2), i.e., know edge, whether conceded or inputed, w thout regard
to the subjective state of mind of Respondent, i.e., whether or not it
i ntended to violate | RCA

6. That on the record in this case it is no defense to a charge of
knowi ngly continuing to enploy an unauthorized alien, i.e., Rivera,

5 interest, if not controlling because crimnal procedures are inplicated, in
the case of a sentence to death, the Suprenme Court has recently found constitutionally
perm ssible the exercise by a state appellate court of authority to reweigh the jury's
consideration of aggravating and nitigating evidence. denmons v. Mssissippi, _

US _ , 58 US L.W 4395 (March 27, 1990) (No. 88-6873).
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that the alien has or may have had a relationship with Conpl ai nant that
enabled himto obtain new work authorizations fromtine to tine.

7. That know edge at the tinme of hire that the alien's work
aut hori zati on would expire and his continued enpl oynent beyond that date
is sufficient for culpability under 8 U S. C. 8§ 1324a(a)(2), wthout
regard to whether Respondent, as the enployer, intended to violate 8
U S. C § 1324a.

8. That an affirmative defense of good faith is unavailing to
Respondent on a charge of violating 8 U S C. § 1324a(a)(2) where, as
here, Respondent has failed to establish conpliance with the requirenents
of the enploynent verification system including reverification,
establ i shed by and pursuant to 8 U S.C. 8§ 1324a(b), whether that failure
results fromerrors or acts of om ssion or comission by Respondent or
its enpl oyees.

9. That the civil noney penalty assessed by INS at $2,000.00 for the
single violation with respect to one enployee only is unreasonably harsh
on this record but that, judgnentally, it is just and reasonable to
requi re Respondent to pay a civil noney penalty in the sum of $500.00 for
Count | of the Conplaint.

10. That Respondent shall cease and desist from violating the
prohibitions against hiring, recruiting, referring or continuing to
enpl oy unaut horized aliens, in violation of 8 U S.C. § 1324a(1)(A) and

(a)(2).

11. That Respondent failed to ensure that its enployee Rodriguez
properly conpleted Part 1 of Form |-9, presented to INS on or about
January 27, 1989, following tinely prior notice of inspection, as the
result of which Respondent is found, by the preponderance of the
evi dence, to have violated 8 U . S.C. 8§ 1324a(a)(1)(B).

12. That upon consideration of the statutory criteria for
determ ning the anmount of the penalty for violation of 8 US C §
1324a(a)(1)(B), it is just and reasonable to require Respondent to pay
a civil noney penalty in the sumof $250.00, the anpbunt assessed by INS,
for Count |l of the Conpl aint.

13. This Decision and Oder is the final action of the judge in
accordance with 28 C.F.R 8§ 68.51(a). As provided at 28 CF.R §
68.51(a), this action shall becone the final order of the Attorney
CGeneral unless, within thirty (30) days from the date of this Decision
and Order, the Chief Administrative Hearing Oficer, upon request for
review, shall have nodified or vacated it. See also 8 USC 8§
1324a(e)(7), 28 CF.R § 68.51(a)(2).
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SO ORDERED.
Dated this 6th day of April, 1990.

MARVI N H. MORSE
Adm ni strative Law Judge
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